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Ms. Lisa J. Stevenson, Esq.
Acting General Counsel
Federal Election Commission
1050 First Street, NE
Washington, DC 20463
Re:

Complaint against Westerleigh Press and John Doe / John Doe
Committee(s) for Anonymous Mailers in 2020 General
Election

Dear Ms. Stevenson:
Pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 30109 and 11 C.F.R. § 111.4, Steve Daines for Montana (“Daines
Campaig”) files this Complaint against Westerleigh Press, located at 2 Hollywood Court, South
Plainfield, NJ 07080 and its customers John Doe and John Doe Committee for their violations of
federal law as more fully described below.
This complaint is filed against the individual(s) and entities responsible for at least two
anonymous (2) mailings to registered voters in Montana, in violation of the Federal Election
Campaigns Act, Title 52 United States Code, Subtitle III, Chapter 301, Subchapter I (“the Act”) and
the regulations promulgated thereunder by the Federal Election Commission (“FEC”), specifically as
described below.
Respondent Westerleigh Press describes itself as having specialty knowledge and
information about ‘political printing’. Its website proclaims: that ‘Westerleigh Press is the
nationwide leader in union political print and mail” and identifies several Democratic candidates as
clients, including former Democratic Presidential candidate Bernie Sanders, among others.1
Westerleigh Press, as an experienced ‘political printer’, is well aware of the requirements of federal
law regarding the inclusion of disclaimers and information as to the source of payment for political
mailers about federal candidates and campaigns. Westerleigh Press has conspired with unknown
Democratic operatives and/or committees to violate federal law by sending anonymous mailings to
Montana voters in false and desperate last minute attacks against Sen. Daines.
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Facts of the Violation(s)
United States Senator Steve Daines (R-MT) is seeking reelection and is on the November 3,
2020 general election ballot in Montana. Steve Daines for Montana is the principal authorized
campaign committee for Sen. Daines’ reelection.
On or about October 22, 2020, Montana voters began receiving the attached mailers. The
mailing and receipt of the communications occurred within twelve days of the November 3, 2020
General Election. It is believed that at least five hundred (500) of the mailers were sent to Montana
voters within the span of just a few days.
Both mailers contain attacks against Sen. Daines and his record on legislation involving
appropriations and spending, with an unmistakable message that the recipient should oppose Sen.
Daines’ reelection. Coupled with the proximity to the election and the unambiguous call to defeat
Sen. Daines, the mailers constitute a public communication expressly advocating Sen. Daines’ defeat
(the “Mailers”). See Mailers, Ex. 1 and Ex. 2.
The Mailers each contain a pre-paid postage stamp and pre-printed number, which identify
Respondent Westerleigh Press (See Westerleigh Press, Ex.3), but the Mailers contain no information
as to the sponsor of the Mailers. Since neither of the Mailers contain a disclaimer stating who paid
for them, there is also no statement that the mass mailings were not authorized by any candidate or
candidate’s committee.
The Mailers Violate Multiple Provisions of Federal Law
Federal campaign finance law is premised upon a requirement that public communications
expressly advocating the election of or defeat of a clearly defined federal candidate must contain a
disclaimer stating the source of the payment for the communication. 52 U.S.C. § 30120; 11 C.F.R. §
110.11(a)(2); Federal Election Commission v. Survival Education Fund, Inc., 65 F.3d 285 (2d Cir.
1995).
The Mailers contain an unmistakable and unambiguous message that Sen. Daines should be
defeated. See Ex.1 and Ex.2. The Mailers have been disseminated within close proximity to the
November 3, 2020 general election, thus constituting an express advocacy communication as
described in federal law. 52 U.S.C. § 30101(17); 11 C.F.R. § 100.22.
The content of the Mailers constitute public political advertising. 52 U.S.C. § 30101(22); 11
C.F.R. § 100.26. In addition, the Mailers meet the definition of “mass mailing” since they constitute
“a mailing by U.S. mail or facsimile of more than 500 pieces of mail matter of an identical or
substantially similar nature within any 30-day period.” 52 U.S.C. § 30101(23); 11 C.F.R. § 100.27.

MUR783900003

October 27, 2020
Page 3
An express advocacy public communication must state that the communication was not
authorized by a candidate or candidate’s committee, along with the full name and permanent street
address, telephone number, or website address of the person who paid for the communication. 52
U.S.C. § 30120; 11 C.F.R. § 110.11(b)(3). Furthermore, there are specific size and legibility
requirements for the disclaimer which Respondent(s) have not complied with. 52 U.S.C. § 30120;
11 C.F.R. § 110.11(c).
The Mailers have been produced and mailed by and through Respondent Westerleigh Press,
which advertises its history of working for Democratic candidates. If coordinated with the campaign
of Sen. Daines’ opponent Steve Bullock, the Mailers constitute an in-kind illegal contribution from
Respondent(s) to Montanans for Bullock (the “Bullock Campaign”).2 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d). If not
coordinated with the Bullock Campaign, Respondent(s) have failed to report the Independent
Expenditure within 24-hours of public dissemination of the Mailers, in violation of U.S. campaign
finance law. 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(c), (d). Respondent(s) have failed to disclose to the public whether
the Mailers were or were not authorized by a candidate; therefore, the public has no way of knowing
the extent of the involvement of the Bullock Campaign in this last minute attack on Sen. Daines.
The Mailers do not comply with any of the requirements of U.S. campaign finance law. The
Respondents have deliberately failed to comply with the disclosure requirements of all such
communications.
Similar disclosure requirements to the ones Respondents are purposefully flouting at the
expense of a better informed electorate, have been upheld by the U.S. Supreme Court as recently as
2010. See Citizens United v. Federal Election Comm’n, 130 S. Ct. 876, 885 (2010) (finding that
disclosure requirements and disclaimers for political ads “provide information to the electorate,
McConnell v. Federal Election Comm’n, 540 U.S. 93, 196 (2003), and ‘insure that the voters are
fully informed’ about who is speaking, Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 76 (1976). At the very least,
they avoid confusion by making clear that the ads are not funded by a candidate or political
party.”). The disclosure requirements for independent expenditures outlined by Congress are an
essential aspect of our campaign finance system. It is these same disclosure requirements that enable
citizens to have access to “the information needed to hold corporations and elected officials
accountable for their positions.” Citizens United, 558 U.S. at 370 (citing McConnell, 540 U.S. at
259 (opinion of Scalia, J.). The transparency that the disclosure requirements provide has proved
crucial in enabling “the electorate to make informed decisions and give proper weight to different
speakers and messages.” Citizens United, 558 U.S. at 371.

2

Types of Contributions, U.S. Federal Election Commission, https://www.fec.gov/help-candidates-andcommittees/candidate-taking-receipts/types-contributions/, (last visited Oct. 25, 2020), stating that “when a committee,
group or individual pays for a communication that is coordinated with a campaign or a candidate, the communication is
either an in-kind contribution or, in some limited cases, a coordinated party expenditure by a party committee.”
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